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Elizabeth Gritter, Hunter Lane, Jr.

[0:00:00]

Elizabeth Gritter:
-is Elizabeth Gritter interviewing Hunter Lane, Jr. in Memphis, Tennessee on July 14, 2004.  

There it goes.  One of the things we talked about last time was how you said that the City Commission had absolute control over the segregation of certain like public facilities and so forth, and we talked about the parks as one example.  And I was wondering what were some other examples and how did the City Commission play a role?
Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Well, like I said, we had absolute control.  There were boards and commissions that, like the Park Commission, which was an appointed board, and there were a number of those-

 [0:01:00]

-which had direct responsibility, but the City Commission had supervisory authority and whatever you want to call it.  We had one member of the Commission was assigned to be the liaison person for these various boards.  Like the MLG&W Board, I was the liaison for that, a guy named Jimmy Boyle was the liaison with the Park Commission, and so our job was to sit in on their meetings and report back to the full assembly of what was going on there.  

There was a practical amount of – as far as I was – I didn’t interfere much.  There was some interference by other people, you know, they were – they would cross purposes sometimes.  Not often, ‘cause we had, at that time really had good citizen boards.  I mean very – well, not celebrated, that’s too strong a word, but I mean very well-known and well-
[0:02:00]

-educated and, you know, just first-class people on these boards.  

But as far as the things that and as far as the desegregation aspects of it, it usually started with the boards.  For example, the Park Commission decided to desegregate swimming pools.  They didn’t do it – they didn’t initiate it.  That was a case where there was some pressure put on them, but they eventually succumbed to the pressure and saw that it was the right thing and they did it.

And so the city – and another thing, we had budget – we had funding power; if somebody was doing not what we thought was the right thing we could cut the money off, which that never happened, but it was a, you know, a big stick that we could’ve used.  And within the departments we were directly responsible for, we were – we had the power to desegregate or not.  

And there wasn’t-

[0:03:00]

-when I took – when we took office in 1964 there were just precious little, I mean I think we had two black policemen in the whole force, we didn’t have any firemen I don’t think.  I had the building inspection department and I brought in a couple black guys, but there weren’t any then and there weren’t any on any of the boards and commissions, believe it or not.  And this is ’64.  But they just – they were just totally excluded.  

I mean and by that – well you know from your research, by that time we were getting a lot of highly qualified, Ivy League-educated, like Russell Shore, who were beginning, who were certainly extremely well-qualified.  They couldn’t even get in the local theater here; they wouldn’t even let them in.  You know, it was an amateur theater, which wasn’t all that big a deal, but they wouldn’t let them in the-
[0:04:00]

-theater because they had some Mississippi patrons that they didn’t want to offend, you know, that kind of.  Just looking back, just horrible, demeaning, you know, painful _____. 
But it evolved.  You know, once you break one barrier it’s easier to break the next one.  So when the swimming pools were desegregated, you know, I didn’t follow it, but I don’t think many white kids went there anymore.  I mean they were – I got a call one night about 10:00, some drunk lady, “You know, they’ll transmit all these” – some term she used – “sexually transmitted diseases.”  She was worried about the water in the pools contaminating the swimmers.  

Now have I answered your question?  I’ve kind of rambled.

Elizabeth Gritter:
So you had enforcement power with the City Commission, but usually you didn’t really have to-
[0:05:00]

-meet that to do that, because the board-

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
No, because the boards, it was a consensus or some thing.  Looking back, it’s amazing it was so that they were able to do what they did.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Well, I think it was just so basically right, you know, I mean the right thing to do, that these people, as I said, were quality people.  Most of them weren’t political climbers; they just served because somebody asked them to.  For example, we had a probate court judge who was chairman of the Park Commission.  And all these people were in that category.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
There wasn’t a lot of, although the elected officials were all screaming about the segregation, the appointed people weren’t – they were in a different category really.  So in a way they were kind of a buffer, but people, the elected didn’t quite understand that; they took it out on the City Council board, the City Commission.
[0:06:00]

Elizabeth Gritter:
Did a protest activity of like the NAACP have an impact on the plans of like the board to the Commission to desegregate?
Hunter Lane, Jr.:
They – when the term – when the people elected to the same term I was took office they – yeah, there was – I told you about the Shelby County Democratic Club.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
A lot of those were NAACP folks too.  So it was a real merging.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Yeah.  Oh yeah, they put a lot of heat on it.  They were very active in trying to get the City Commission to desegregate some job, you know, to hire black people in all areas, and also to desegregate public facilities.  And it was just – it was sort of, instead of being confrontation when the public liked- 
[0:07:00]

-it was just a lot of, you know, ______ type thing.  I mean they were – they’d call you up on the telephone and that kind of thing.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
That _____ of type of ______.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Were there meetings between like the city commissioners and the Shelby County Democratic Club and the NAACP?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
I don’t remember any meeting where we were all invited, except the mayor, I told you a little bit about him, wasn’t supported by the Shelby County Democratic Club.  But I – as a matter of fact, I’m not sure, Pete Cisna I think had their support, but I don’t think any of the rest did.  So it was more an individual’s name, you know.  Maxine Smith, for example, would call and say, you know, “When are you going to get around to appointing somebody to a board, a commission here?”  And it was slow, but gradual – I mean actual product in the board and commission-type-
[0:08:00]

-you know, employees or people.  

Yeah, the NAACP was a constant presence.  I mean they had other fish to fry.  I mean they had other things they were working on, but they didn’t – they were very vigilant, you know, very – and they had to use pretty strong tactics a lot.  You know, they was pretty well ignored.  More than ignored; they were despised by a lot of the white people.  They just thought Maxine Smith was a dragon lady, you know, she was the worst person in town in the eyes of many whites, many prominent whites; I mean she was the devil incarnate.  

And she was pretty much, well, she had a lot of help, but she was the spokesman and she was high profile, you know.  That’s why they were down on her so bad.
[0:09:00]
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.  Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
But to get back to your question, yes, this NAACP did put pressure on, there were involvement, so constantly.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.  Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
And of course, during the four years after the term I served, it got a lot stronger then.  I mean Dr. King was killed during that period.

Elizabeth Gritter:
With the sanitation strike and Black Mondays and that sort of stuff.
Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Yeah, all that.  They were very much – and of course there were other desegregation groups too that, you know, SNAKE and others that came in from out of town that would – and who joined with the NAACP.

Elizabeth Gritter:
In the late ‘60s or so?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Yeah.  Yeah, in the late ‘60s.  Well, between ’67 and ’71.  Well, it continued on after that; I mean once there was a – once Dr. King-

[0:10:00]


-got killed it was a great conscience thing among – I mean at first there were a lot of – the reaction was, “I’m glad they got that goddamned nigger,” you know, that kind of stuff.  But people gradually realized what a black guy – the Chamber of Commerce, they didn’t care about King; they cared about what effect it had on the city’s image.  And I remember some magazine, I think it was Time, characterized Memphis as a “sleepy river town”.  That was the worst thing; we were trying our best not to be a sleepy river town.  That really-

Anyhow, the power structure began to see that racial division was not good for the city, and leaving out the morality of it, it was just, practically speaking, something that had to be addressed, and that’s what they did.  And again, there was a lot of biting of tongues and suppressed emotion in doing it, but-
[0:11:00]

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.  Were the – in like the ‘60s the NAACP and the Shelby County Democratic Club, would you say those were the two main black organizations?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Yeah, organizations, right.

Elizabeth Gritter:
That were going for civil rights and local power?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Well they had the most effective organization and the most members.  The NAACP had a massive, a large number of black, all – well, there were some white members, but not many.  And they interacted, but the Shelby County Democratic Club was really, it would mobilize around election times.  They were more involved in the politics of the thing and getting people elected.  The NAACP was just a constant pressure outfit.  And they were relative, you know, all over; both organizations had large numbers-
[0:12:00]

-of members.  You didn’t – most of them were invisible, you know, you didn’t – you heard from Maxine and Jesse Turner and people like that, but you didn’t – people didn’t realize what the strength of these people.  I think maybe some of them realized it when I got elected, ‘cause I got so many black votes, and political students understood that.

Elizabeth Gritter:
In 1963?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Yeah.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.  Mm hmm.  How would you characterize Mayor Ingram’s policies on race, I mean his views?
Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Yeah, that’s a good question.  You know, in the 1967 election we had our first black mayoral candidate, A.W. Willis, and Ingram was in the race, and he got more black votes than Willis, which was an interesting thing.  He had this, I don’t know, had a charisma or something.  He had this status among blacks.  You know, he was a city judge and he-
[0:13:00]

-he for the first time listened to the defendants in the cases.  But he hadn’t really been outwardly a benefactor of the blacks.  He held up the – excuse me – he held up the war on poverty program singlehandedly almost for about a year and a half.  The money was ready to flow, he just had to get an organization, and he wouldn’t approve – he would veto – well actually, he had the power to appoint, and that thing was the council didn’t – the commission didn’t have to approve his appointments, so it took all this time.  And he didn’t – Frances Cole, for example, who was a member of the school for many years, she was a nominee.  And there’s a guy named Washington Butler who finally got the job, I think.
But the point is Ingram, his strength among the blacks with ministers and-

[0:14:00]


-people who felt like they didn’t belong in the Shelby County Democratic Club, so many of these ministers want – in fact, ________ were the people who got the money to produce the votes.  I’m not saying that Ingram paid them money, but they were used to being political figures, and they kind of got shut out by the Shelby County Democratic Club.

So I never was – I didn’t pay it enough attention, I guess, but I never was aware of where his power – I mean his influence came from.  He was just a – he was a devious little guy.

[Laughter]
Hunter Lane, Jr.:
He was a little crazy, really.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Why do you think he went, he held up the appointment of the war on poverty?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
He wanted to put his people in there.  He wanted to put his appointee as the – and I forget who he favored, but it was somebody, purely a political hack, somebody who didn’t qualify.  As a matter of fact, I’m wrong, he-
[0:15:00]

-did have to get the City Commission’s approval of his appointees in this case.  He knew.  But I think the law said that the head political figure in Memphis was the mayor, had the right to a point, but under our charter he couldn’t just do that summarily; I mean he had to have some counsel.  So that’s what happened; he would keep bringing these people in and then there’d be somebody on the council, in fact me in a couple of instances, that proposed Frances ______ Cole or Washington Butler, who was an out-of-towner.  He turned out to be a real good administrator.  He was sort of the compromise ____ person.

But the community didn’t seem to realize that they were being deprived of something that would’ve been very helpful.  At least I didn’t hear any outward protest.
[0:16:00]

Elizabeth Gritter:
Oh, for the war-

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
For the Washington War on Poverty, yeah.  That was in ’64 when the law was passed, so I guess it was ’65 when all that was happening.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

Female:
Honey, I’m going.  And call me.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Okay, I’ll call you.

Female:
To let me know where to pick you up.
Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Yeah.

Well you were asking me about Ingram’s – he was such a loner.  I mean he didn’t have any close allies on the City Commission.  And he didn’t seek out – he wasn’t an LBJ-type.  He didn’t get you off in a backroom and twist your arm; he just went his own way.  He would make a pitch, but he wouldn’t – it was like it was just not his style.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Kind of a very peculiar man.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
He was a very peculiar man.  Not all bad, by any means, but he was – he was not all good.  But he was just-
[0:17:00]

-tricky, you know, really, really – he lied a lot.  I mean he would – for example, he would – city code when we came in had two volumes, about that thick.  And since he was a judge, he was presumed to be an expert on city law.  And he would bring those, one of those – they were bound in green, and he would bring those things to the City Commission meeting and say, “It’s right here.  The law is right here.”  I was a lawyer; I knew what was in the book.  And he was just, you know, making a show, and things like that.
[Laughter]
Hunter Lane, Jr.:
He was a demagogue is the best description I can make of him.  And of course, he’d been in the German stalag for about a year-and-a-half, I think.  Did you know that?
Elizabeth Gritter:
No.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Yeah, he was a fighter pilot and got shot down, or I think he crashed ‘cause he ran out of gas, and he was in a German prison camp for about a year-and-a-half. 

[0:18:00]


And he was – there wasn’t any direct proof of it, of course, but we all thought that affected his personality.  He was a little paranoid, a little sensitive.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah, I agree with that.  I saw that in 1967 there were two major changes, with the city government becoming a council form, and also that there was a run-off law that was passed.
Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Yeah.

Elizabeth Gritter:
And I saw that you were one of the supporters for the run-off law.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
I was a general supporter of the charter change, see.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Oh, okay.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Yeah, I think I was the only member of the whole City Commission that worked hard to get it passed.  I made a lot of speeches and that kind of thing.

Elizabeth Gritter:
To the council forum?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Yeah, yeah, the mayor council forum.  Yeah, you know, it was only defects, and the main one being – one of the main ones is there’s no way a black elected official, city official was going to be elected,-
[0:19:00]
-I mean a candidate for that.  Because the numbers weren’t there.  At that time, you know, the white voters outnumbered the black in the city by a substantial margin.  I don’t mean just the voters; I mean just numbers of people.  So that was one bad flaw.  And the other one was that the same – under the commission system the same people who ran the departments controlled the money too.  I mean we were – and consequently there was very little check and balance.  You know, if you had to vote for – if you knew that your budget depended on voting for somebody else’s budget, you usually voted for somebody else’s.  

I can’t remember a single time when there was any conversation or any confrontation about money things, about cutting peoples’ budget.  I know it sounds incredible, but of course, we were in a pretty good, pretty healthy financial-

[0:20:00]


-situation at that time.  We didn’t – we’re not like the county now, where they’ve got to cut a lot of services.  That’s really tragic.

But, and let’s see, I named two of the most important things.  Of course, under the new system the mayor – the mayor’s office had a lot more power.  I mean he appointed the various boards and commissions and had a lot of those.  The Council had to approve them, but he had the initiative of, you know, all the things that City Commission used to do as a group, the mayor had the right to do.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Oh, so before like the City Commission voted on the appointments.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Yeah, right.

Elizabeth Gritter:
But now the mayor could appoint people?
Hunter Lane, Jr.:
The mayor made recommendations to the City Council and they, most all the time they went along with his recommendations.  They considered that his province.  

Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Now there were times when he sent people-
[0:21:00]


-down that they blocked, but – ‘cause they were – I forget how many blacks there were on the City Council the first time around.  There again, they really got, the first City Council was probably as well-qualified and well-motivated as well as any political body that’s ever served in this town.  I mean they had some really top-flight people, and non-ambitious; I mean none of them were looking for higher office.  Maybe a couple out of 13, but none of – it was as free from political maneuverings as – not to say there wasn’t any, but I mean, you know, clearly motivated – badly motivated political maneuvers I would say.  They just had a five-star cast, you know?
Elizabeth Gritter:
Mm hmm.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
It’s never been the same.  And they – the quality of the Council has just gradually deteriorated.

[0:22:00]

Elizabeth Gritter:
I _____ know now.  Yeah, and I saw another controversial issue at the time was about getting a run-off law that was passed.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Right.

Elizabeth Gritter:
If you could talk to about that and what your involvement was with that.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Well, it was just part of the charter, and I was generally for the charter.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Oh, okay.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
I think I’m right about that.  Now that may have had to be passed – I can’t – my memory is vague about that.  But I’m almost certain that was part of the city charter.  We had been given the authority, you know, home rule, some time ago by the legislature, so they didn’t enter into it.  We had a home rule law, which allowed local municipalities to pass their own charters; we didn’t have to go to Nashville to get that approved.  

So the run-off law was controversial.  I don’t recall – I think the NAACP and the Shelby County Democratic Club were not favor of it, because they could get someone-
[0:23:00]

-elected with a plurality, but not in a run-off.  So that, yeah, that was a battleground.  That was – and there are a lot of – I think the whites generally were for it, because it denied the blacks the opportunity to elect someone, you know.  It was, you know, I thought a great improvement.  I mean, you know, the majority rules; that’s what it’s all about.

Elizabeth Gritter:
So that was the reason you were for it, was you thought that?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Yeah, I just thought that, you know, that’s the way it works in just about every other system of government.  Well, I’m sure there’s some that doesn’t.  But yeah, that was the main reason, just – I didn’t – you know, it didn’t occur to me until I was reminded by my friends in the black community that this was not a good thing for them.  I just – it didn’t change my mind of just,-

[0:24:00]

-you know, there was still examples of like representatives being elected at large.  Willis went to the legislature, and that’s ‘cause they turned out and really supported him.  So mathematically it was possible for them to, you know, if they turned out and voted in a certain level of participation then they could outvote the white community.  

I mean solidarity was the key to it, you know.  Just strictly by the math the whites had somewhat more voters, registered voters; that doesn’t mean they always voted.  In fact, the blacks always voted in higher percentages than the whites, because of all this pressure – not pressure, but, you know, campaigning activity that the NAACP-

[0:25:00]


-and the Club they called it, the Shelby County Democratic Club.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.  Yeah.  Sugarmon, he mentioned the runoff law when I talked to him, and he said that it was passed illegally.  Do you know anything about that?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
I don’t know – I don’t know anything about that.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.  I have to ask him a little more what he means by that.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
He might’ve meant that City Council – I mean, well, it was voted on.  I’m virtually – you know, it’s been a long time.  But my memory is that it was voted on as part of the charter and not a separate – but I may be wrong about that.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Mm, mm hmm.  Mm hmm.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
I don’t know what he – what Russell meant by illegally.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah, I – yeah, I’ll have to follow up with that, with him about that.  


And he also mentioned, and this is something else I’ll probably have to follow up with him about, but I wondered if you had any memories of this, that at that time there was a slate of like progressive candidates-
[0:26:00]

-that was put out by the-

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Mm hmm.  The people generally who supported the charter change.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
And they were the ones I was talking about was such a five-star group, who were elected to the City Council.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
You know, I don’t think they support a mayoral candidate, ‘cause Henry Loeb, who was elected mayor, he was in a runoff with Ingram and got elected, by a pretty narrow margin, actually.  I don’t know how much contact you’ve – how much interest you’ve had in Henry Loeb.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah, I talked to his son, actually.

[Laughter]
Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Well, he was – you know, he was the darling of the redneck blue collar guys, and he was a Hollywood good-looking guy, real tall and handsome.  And someone said, he always said – he was very outspoken.  Somebody said he always said what was on his mind, but his-

[0:27:00]

-mind wasn’t working, you know,

[Laughter]
Hunter Lane, Jr.:
He was really highly overrated.  People that knew him well – like the saying goes, you had to know him to dislike him.  You know, he was a bigot, I think, by and large.  Even though he was Jewish, but he was – he had been in government before.  He had been in the Commission of Public Works, the job ______ had in our time.  And, you know, he got a reputation of fixing potholes in a timely manner.  

He was a pretty good politician.  He always answered letter that he got.  He made a big thing out of it.  He’d get up at 6:00 in the morning and dictate letters from the previous day and, you know, that got him a lot of applause, a lot of support.  But he was-

[0:28:00]

-he had the good sense of appointing good people on his staff, people like Jim Bonilla, who was a city attorney, and Tom Pruitt, you know, really powerful people like that.  

But as much as anyone, it was Loeb who brought about the garbage worker’s strike and eventually Dr. King’s death.  ‘Cause he wouldn’t agree to a deuce check-off.  That’s what it was all about; they wanted to first to recognize them.  And in all fairness to him, his lawyers were telling him that – and it was true, that in the city – excuse me, in the state law municipal employee’s unions were prohibited.  So in effect they were asking him to violate the state law.  And the people-

[0:29:00]
-that wanted there to be a union and to have the dues checked off, you know, just sort of ignored that and they just said, you know, there’s a higher obligation.

[Telephone rings]

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
-to him.  And he, you know, it’s like most politicians, he was listening to the people that put him in office.  Most of them where white, you know, just unenlightened kind of people and selfish.  They didn’t see it as a matter of principle why blacks should have more power.  You know, there was a threat to them actually.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.  You talked about how you came to bat in terms of having a change in your own racial attitudes after being in contact with blacks in politics.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Yeah.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Did you know of other whites who had similar experiences?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
I can’t – you know, I’m sure there were.  You know, you can’t – I don’t know; I can’t name names, but-
[0:30:00]


-we all had contact.  So many times it was hostile.  

[Telephone rings]

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
I’m sorry.

Elizabeth Gritter:
That’s all right.

[Telephone rings]

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
There were others who, you know, you couldn’t – couldn’t have a relationship with Willis or Sugarmon or some of those people without being impressed, you know, with their general competence, that’s good, you know, smarts.  And it didn’t – I never got to be on a socially friendly basis with them at that time.  I have later, and in particularly with Maxine and _______. 

[0:31:00]

But you’ve got to realize that as far as the City Commission was concerned only Ingram and I were really beholders of the black community for our election, so we probably – and Ingram was getting it from other directions in the black community.  

But I – your impression is hard to answer, because I don’t know what went on, you know, behind closed – I’m sure they were influenced, you know, you couldn’t ignore 45% of the electorate.  Even from a hard, practical standpoint you couldn’t do that.  And there was always the emotion – I mean the morality end of it, the fairness.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Mm hmm.  I was wondering too what – if you remember when Brown v. Board of Education was ruled and what the reaction was in that decision?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Well, the action was initially-

[0:32:00]

-just ignore it and maybe it will go away.  The school board had really top-flight people on it too, but they were elected at large and no blacks, and so they sort of just really didn’t do anything when it first passed.  You know, like most southern cities, they just kind of waited it out until we had the NAACP file a local action.  Then people couldn’t ignore it anymore.  And the school board had taken a few feeble steps towards merges of schools, I think maybe two merges that, because the schools were practically next door to each other.  But most of the – you know, that was a clear line of demarcation between where the black schools were and where the white.  The only way we were going to desegregate Memphis was through busing, as expensive and-

[0:33:00]

-ultimately ineffective as it was.

But Brown v. Topeka School Board didn’t really impact us.  Well, busing here didn’t go into effect until 1972, and I think Brown, that wasn’t – that case was decided like ’60-something, wasn’t it, or ’50?

Elizabeth Gritter:
’54, yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
’54, yeah.  So it was almost 20 years later that something happened here.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
And another factor was that at the same time the charter went into effect for the City Hall government, it went into effect for the school board too.  So we had nine members, and three of those were black, and three of them were arch-conservatives, and then there was some, I guess Frances Cole and I were properly called moderates; we weren’t way over on one side or the other.

Kind of interesting sideline, Maxine Smith was one of the school board members-

[0:34:00]

-and she was also executive director, and so she was suing herself.  But it didn’t bother Maxine.  Those little legal niceties didn’t, you know, I used to kid her about it all the time.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Was she the only black member of the school board?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
No, we had three.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay.  And when-

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
George Brown, who is now circuit judge.  He’d be a good one to interview; he’s very articulate.  And then a guy named Carl Johnson, who doesn’t have – he was stupid then and he’s still on the school board.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Were working relationships good between the black and white members of the school board?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Well, in some cases more than others.  The conservatives on the school board, you could say absolutely not.  They were enemies really.  Frances Cole and I and I forget who the third sort of moderate was, yeah, it was a marriage of convenience, you know.  Not only did we get along with them because we thought their cause-
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-was a lot fairer than the conservatives thought it was, but you know, they were the kind of people that you could – they were intelligent people.  They were more open-minded than the conservatives were.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Who were the – so the conservatives were enemies in terms of they were against the policies.  But were they also against-

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
They were against the segregation, yeah.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Every elected – well, there may have been some, but almost every elected official or somebody running for office came out and had an anti-busing plank for their platform.  I mean people running for county trustee and something that wasn’t affected at all.

And our mayor then, who was one of my oldest friends; I was in a Boy Scout troop with him, it went back that far, Wyeth Chandler was definitely – I don’t think racist would be putting it too strongly.  He didn’t get any black votes when he ran, so he didn’t-
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-he was kind of like Loeb, except he was a lot smarter.  And he would, you know, send us messages, stand in the schoolhouse door, that kind of stuff.  And he cut off our gasoline for the buses.  He just, you know, he was an obstructionist.  And the court, circuit court Judge McGrave, who just died here a couple weeks ago, hauled him into court, sent a marshal out to get him and brought him in and said, “Put that gas back in those trucks.”

Chandler knew that was going to happen.  I mean, like I say, he’s not stupid; he was just making a big show.  

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.  Yeah.  I see that the time has gone quickly and it’s running out.  I have two more questions.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Okay.

Elizabeth Gritter:
One is what sort of role did women play in politics in the ‘50s and ‘60s?
Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Well, it was like most things that went on in those days, there were the League of Women Voters, you know, there were a good many-
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-women who got involved.  And that’s particularly true when the Republicans started showing some strength.  There were just scattered numbers, like Frances Cole, who had been involved in politics in one way or the other for a long time.  And they were – but they were – now there was a woman elected to the first city council, a lady named Gwen Awsumb, who is dead now.  But she was the only one.
Later on there were many.  I mean, not a majority, but like 5 out of 13.  But at that – during the ______ and there weren’t any – to my recollection there weren’t any candidates until 1967, during the time when I’m _______ me with ’64 through ’67.
[0:38:00]

I don’t – I can’t recall many women who were on these boards and commissions.  It was pretty much a male preserve at that time.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
It’s been incredible to think back and see it like that, but that’s the way it was.

Elizabeth Gritter:
What about in terms of like grassroots campaigning?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
There was a lot of that.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Yeah, a lot-

Elizabeth Gritter:
A lot of women and ______-

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
A lot of people put out signs and bumper stickers.  And there were a good many, like the City Beautiful Commission, that was practically all women.  That was kind of their place, to make things pretty.

[Laughter]
Elizabeth Gritter:
Sure.
Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Plant and paint and-

Elizabeth Gritter:
Is there anything else that you want to add of everything we’ve talked about?  Anything-
Hunter Lane, Jr.:
I really can’t.  You probably pretty thoroughly.  I’ll tell you what I’d like to ask you, though, when you get it in some kind of form, I’d really like to have a copy.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Sure.  Sure.  Yep.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Did you ever find that book we talked about, Memphis After-
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Hunter Lane, Jr.:
You know, it became – it came finally to the point where white voters realized that whether they liked it or not, they were going to – they were going to have black officials elected, and they might as well as accommodate to them.  But, you know, the vast majority of people don’t have any direct contact with government, city or whatever.  I mean except tax-wise, everybody gets taxed and everybody has kids in schools.  But beyond that, _____ some zoning battle or something, but there’s not an awful lot of interest in government unless they do something that really affects people adversely.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Right.  It seems like the most resistance was to the school integration and less so to the segregation of the parks, except for like swimming pool.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Yeah, some place where white citizens are having to give up something,-
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-or they think they’re having to.  They’re having to deal with something they don’t like, you know, they wouldn’t have voted for it, you know, at that point.  I doubt they would have now.  If you said three golf courses are going to be reserved for white golfers, I don’t think there would have been a lot of protests among white golfers.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Even now?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Oh, I maybe shouldn’t have said that.  I’m just spec – I know there’s a lot of latent racism around, even among people that, you know, that are enlightened people, you know, just-

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.  What do you think can be done to get rid of that?  Or do you think it can be gotten rid of?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Well, I don’t know.  I don’t know.  It’s pretty ingrained.  But that’s the bad – that’s the downside.  The upside is it’s not nearly as bad as it was when Sugarmon was running for office.
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And it was not, you know, - there they voted against Sugarmon because he was black.  Like as I said earlier, now it’s a question of choosing between two black candidates.  

So I think it’s – people accommodate things now.  I figure they may not like it, they may not – you know, it’s a matter of the heart too.  You can list all the sermons and – it’s a personal thing sooner or later, and of course your personal views have to be shaped by things that happened and people who make speeches about it and advocate it.  But it all comes down to conviction, I don’t think.  

And I think most people, it’s a very minor part of their existence.  I don’t _____ ______; it’s not a daily type of conversation.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Right.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
You don’t talk about it at cocktail parties.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Right.

[Laughter]
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.  Do you remember much-
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-about how in 1959 the white community mobilized for the defeat of Sugarmon?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
No, I don’t.  In fact, I had forgotten that Sugarmon ran in 1959.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Ah, okay.  Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
That was the year Orville ran.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
And I was involved in his campaign, because my dad had been aligned with the Attack Crump people; Orville was one of the ringleaders.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
But, you know, at that time I didn’t know Sugarmon, didn’t know much about him, really wasn’t involved at all.  That was the year that I was, let’s see, that I worked for Louis Tolliver, who was a lawyer who ran against Guire, and I was his campaign manager.  But I worked – you could do both; I worked for Orgill too.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Oh, okay.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
In fact, I don’t want to forget that I went to ask him after he was elected to make me an assistant city attorney, and I was just starting out in the law practice.  That would’ve really been a plum.
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Elizabeth Gritter:
Oh, mm hmm.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
And he said, “I already got him.  You join the Civic Research.”  That was a group that was looking into various forms of government.  That really wasn’t the answer I wanted.  But that was typical Orgill; he had, like I say, he kept the city attorney that Crump had put in there.  

Elizabeth Gritter:
Did you join the Civic Research Committee?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Yeah.  Yeah.  Yeah, as a matter of fact, I did.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Oh.  What do you remember about the workings of that committee?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Well, I think it was kind of an intellectual exercise.  That’s not really the right word.  It was not – like I said, they were examining different forms of government.  And it wasn’t like the Shelby County Democratic Club, they weren’t mobilizing to change anything; they were just a public information body.  I mean the-
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-we had two newspapers at the time, and the editor of the evening paper was very much involved in this kind of-

Elizabeth Gritter:
Meeman?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Meeman, yeah.  

Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay.  Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Yeah.  Yeah, he was a really – Crump – he and Crump really had a shootout.  I mean they despised each other.

Elizabeth Gritter:
I read a little about that.  [Laughs]
Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Yeah, they had some – they didn’t have much of many kind words.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
I think he was a little tiny guy, and he was always bearding Crump.  I mean nobody did that, but he had a newspaper, so he could do it.  And he just gave Crump, you know, ulcers.

Elizabeth Gritter:
How influential were newspapers back then and newspaper coverage for like campaigns and so forth, their editorials?
Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Well, you know, it’s hard to say.  Certainly being endorsed by a newspaper was worth something.  But you know, the fact of the matter was the vast majority of people didn’t even subscribe to the papers, much less read them.

[0:06:00]

And that was before television, so it was probably the endorsement of the paper meant a lot more as far as public – I mean for those who read the paper and had some respect for its decisions, the paper was an influence.  The newspapers were, like the national newspapers, there was one conservative paper that sort of spoke for the establishment, and then there was an evening paper.  

You want some more water?  You okay?
Elizabeth Gritter:
I’m fine, thank you.  [Laughs]

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
There were two different basic points of view, you know.  Meeman’s paper was anti-Crump, the other paper was pretty well supported Crump, because he was generally highly regarded among white voters, ‘cause, you know, he kept the taxes down, he kept the status quo pretty well; he didn’t threaten them-
[0:07:00]


-and they weren’t concerned with beating up labor leaders.  In fact, they probably thought it was a pretty good thing, a lot of them, a lot of businessmen.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
But anyhow, what – I forget the question now.  You had asked-

[Laughter] 

Elizabeth Gritter:
Oh, it was about the – I have another one.  I saw that after Orgill dropped out of the race ‘cause of his illness, there was a Dedicated Citizens Committee that was formed.
Hunter Lane, Jr.:
A Dedicated Citizens Committee?

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah, that was the name of it.  Were you involved with that at all?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
I don’t even know what that was.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
There were a lot of those things.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah, that’s something I picked up; there was like a Government League, a Civic Research Committee, and then I think the outgrowth of the Dedicated Citizens Committee was the Dedicated Citizens Association.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Again, I’m not-

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
That’s a pretty pretentious title there, Dedicated Citizens.
[Laughter] 

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah, it is, when you think about it.  Yeah.


Whey do you think black voting was allowed in Memphis?

[0:08:00]

Because, I mean like in Mississippi there was all this resistance to black voting.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Oh yeah.  You had to read a Chinese newspaper in order to qualify.  _____ used to joke about that.  Georgia, Alabama, the same way.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Well, I don’t know.  That’s a good question.  Since there were so many Mississippians and Arkansans who were in Memphis at that time, I just – I think Crump had a little certain amount of – I know what it was; Crump realized that there was a lot of black voters in Memphis, and he may have realized they were going to become more and more.  So he wanted them registered to vote ‘cause he could control them through the ministers.  They were a potential force if they were registered.  And so I think that was a practical decision; it wasn’t a philosophical decision.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
I think that probably explains it.  If he hadn’t wanted them registered, they wouldn’t have been registered, you know.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

[0:09:00]

And I ran across a statistic that voter registration increased like 200-percent from 1951 to 1960.  Do you think that was allowed because people were just used to blacks voting?  ‘Cause that seems to be more of a threat to the power system than Crump using the black voters for his advantage.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Well yeah, and I think the blacks had a lot to do with getting voters registered, particularly in the late ‘50s.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Keep in mind, there wasn’t a lot of assertion or demands for equality in the early ‘50s, be it the people – I don’t know why.  Very few people probably realized that the black – the politicians probably realized it, but the average citizen didn’t realize that the blacks would increase ______, and so there wasn’t any – it was kind of a low-profile thing.  It wasn’t – political scientists probably realized it, but-

Elizabeth Gritter:
Right, that was a report I-

[0:10:00]
[Laughter]
Elizabeth Gritter:
-ran across on this thesis that was written in ’61 about black voting.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Yeah.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.  Yeah.  

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
I was also Ross Pritchard’s campaign manager, and that was an experience.  Pritchard was an unusual guy.  He came from New Jersey and he was really a smart guy.  He was head of the Department of – gosh, what is it – International Relations Department I think is what they call it, Rhodes College.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Oh, okay.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
And he had been an all-Southwest Conference football player at the University of Arkansas, and he wanted to debate issues, but his opponent, who had been up there for 20 years, just, you know, he would not engage  and talk about issues; he would just talk about good times and, you know, just platitudes.  It drove Pritchard nuts.  And he got beat bad.
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It wasn’t a good lose; they immediately left town.  [Laughs]  He ended up being the president of two or three different universities.  He’s back here now, in Savannah.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Oh, he’s still living?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Yeah.  Oh yeah.  He was pretty young at the time.  Yeah.  He’s living and – I haven’t seen him in years.

Elizabeth Gritter:
He might be a good person to interview, thinking about it.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
He may not want to talk about it.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

[Laughter]
Elizabeth Gritter:
Right.  

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Oh, he had the support of a lot of young war veterans and people like that, many of whom had money.  But someone said a mouthful about Pritchard, they said he would’ve been a great politician if he’d have liked people.  And he came through as pretty lofty.  He wasn’t a hand-shaking guy.

Elizabeth Gritter:
He’s the intellect, flighty kind of – intellectual-

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Yeah.  Fuzzy-headed intellectual.  No, he wasn’t fuzzy-headed, but he wasn’t a natural glad-hander.  You know, he was more interested in the-

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.  I mean more ivory tower.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Right, that’s good-

Elizabeth Gritter:
That’s what I meant, yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
That is a good-
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-description of him.

Elizabeth Gritter:
[Laughs]  What was campaigning like in those days?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Well, you know, it depends on what side you were on, I think.  If you were a crump person you didn’t have to campaign too much.  I mean it was just maybe some signs out there, but the organization took care of all of that.  And they had their – like I say, they had their contacts at all levels that they could influence people by doing little things for them or, you know, just – they were working at it all the time.  So if you were running against him, what you’d try to do is to combat, you know, to override their advantage, and it just didn’t work very often.  After Mr. Crump died it got-
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-the chances were a lot better.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.  Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
In fact, you know, you asked about the rise of the Republican Party; there was a guy who just recently died, by the name of Bob James, who ran as a Republican in 19 – I believe it was the same year that Pritchard ran in the Democratic primary.  It was, 1962, ran for Congress against Cliff Davis, who had been the Congressman, Crump-appointed elected Congressman.  

And Bob James was a – he was a funny guy, really a nice man.  But he was a violent anti – he was an anti-communist.  He was kind of like Joe McCarthy; it was absolutely irrelevant to the local.  Well, I guess it was relevant to his race, ‘cause he was running for Congress.  But he had a – he lived – I lived at 1880 Vinton Avenue and he lived at 1880 Harvard; it was one street over.  And he built a bomb shelter-
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-in his backyard about the time the Cuban Missile Crisis was going on.  And my kids came home one day, they were, you know, four and five, six years old, and said, “Daddy, did you realize Mr. James has a big hole in his backyard where he’s got canned food and all this kind of stuff?”  They said, “What is that?”  I said, “Well, it’s Mr. James’ – it’s a bomb – it’s called a bomb shelter.  It’s to protect him in case we ever get bombed.”  And they said, “Well why don’t we have one?”

[Laughter]
Hunter Lane, Jr.:
“Why don’t you build us one?”

[Laughter]
Hunter Lane, Jr.:
It’s funny.  

But James, he was a Republican.  Now that was an instance where the Republican, the newfound or the emergent Republican Party got, there were enough of them.  So James almost got elected.  It was a close race.  And so I was wrong – well, the Republican-

Elizabeth Gritter:
Was that in the ‘50s?

[0:15:00]

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
That was in the early ‘60s.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Early ‘60s, okay.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Yeah.  They were coming into – you know, they were getting organized by then.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
One thing they had was plenty of money.  They wasn’t having any problem about getting campaign funds.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
I should probably say a lot of them were pretty wealthy people.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.  Were a lot of civil rights leaders – did people associate them with communism and ______?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Well, you know, irresponsible conservative politicians put that on them; they thought of every negative description they could.  [Laughs]  But that wasn’t a big factor, though.  They pretty obviously weren’t communist, you know.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.  Yeah.   What about the role of, ‘cause I looked particularly at coverage of the ’59 election for a research paper, the role of civic clubs in campaigns.  What did civic clubs do?  How widespread were they?  How powerful were they?
Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Well, well this is an area-

[0:16:00]
-I used some examples earlier of Crump’s influence, Crump’s intervention.  Any organization, like a civic club, had some Crump people involved in it, just like parent-teacher associations did.  I mean, so I don’t – you know, here again, I wasn’t as involved in 1959 as I was later, but just based on the general situation, I’m sure they didn’t – there weren’t many independent civic clubs, and most of them were concerned about getting the streets paved or getting the streetlights or things that helped the neighborhood kind of thing.  They weren’t too involved in improving city government or civil rights area.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.  When you ran in ’63 did you like speak to different civic clubs or lawn parties?
Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Oh yeah, did I ever?  

[Laughter]
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Yeah, I went everywhere.
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Everywhere I could – thought I had a chance of getting some votes.  I forget how many white votes.  I think I kind of split that with Dwyer, but I got so many black votes that that’s what won.  I think I won by the number of black votes, but I did get some white votes.  I’ve got, you know, nobody knew who I was really.  I mean I-

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
I had pretty good credentials, but-

Elizabeth Gritter:
What was wrong with Dwyer?  Why didn’t black people seem to like him?
Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Oh, Dwyer was just a – first of all, you see, he was a big, ugly guy.  He was just not a romantic – oh, that’s not the word – appealing person.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
And he wasn’t too smart and he didn’t make any effort to reach out to the black community.  He didn’t realize what was going on down there.  

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
He’d been relying on the Crump organization all of his political life.  And so he just misjudged the situation.

Elizabeth Gritter:
So when you ran you were really aware of the power of the black vote?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Oh, I’d forgotten one important thing-
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-there’d been some very small scandal in one of his departments, building department.  They were letting some builders bill more apartment units, some lots than they were entitled to by law.  So we made – actually it was highly exaggerated, but we made a big thing out of it.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Big deal out of it.

[Laughter]
Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Yeah, and a little jingle about it.  Yeah.  Yeah, that probably had more to do – you know, that was – it’s like so many things in politics.  Dwyer _____ is, you know, he’s unappealing in nature.  His department is run – I found out after I got in there, it was run pretty well.  He wasn’t a – you know, how much he gets credit for that – he had good subordinates, I’ll say that.  I mean they didn’t just do the day-to-day scutwork; they were pretty good people, and they became loyal to me.  I mean I-
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-didn’t fire them, so they were happy they had me.

Elizabeth Gritter:
So you were a commissioner of public service?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Yeah.

Elizabeth Gritter:
What was your – what were your responsibilities?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Well, I had direct responsibility for the enforcement of the housing code, building codes.  I had – I was the liaison person - I think I’ve already talked of that – but with a lot of separate seed agencies, like the Memphis Light, Gas and Water, Memphis Housing Authority, Riverfront Harvard Commission, and many, many.  Let’s see, what else did I do directly?

Well, I was – I’m surprised I can’t remember anymore.  But enforcing the codes was a pretty full-time job, because that had to do with, you know, inspecting.  And one thing I was able to accomplish is the building code was like 50 years old, and-
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-hopelessly out of date.  So I was able to revise those codes and bring them up to date, and I got some good volunteer help to do that.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Were there urban renewal efforts going on at that time?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Urban and rural?

Elizabeth Gritter:
Urban renewal?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Oh, oh yeah.  Big time.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Yeah.  This guy I mentioned, his name was Walter Simmons, was a real effective executive director of the – yeah, he didn’t have a lot of concern for – well, that’s maybe not fair; I started to say he didn’t have a lot of concern with helping the people who needed public housing, but although public housing was well-run at the time and very little – there were many, many white people in public housing at the time.  You know, it was a good-
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-a lot of people wanted to get into public housing.  Keep in mind, this was right after the World War and the Depression had been, and so public housing was, you know, it was clean, it was pretty well – you know, fairly comfortable.  

But anyhow, getting back to urban renewal, Simmons, for example, if the University of Tennessee wanted to expand into an area they would go to Walt and say, “We need an urban renewal project in this area,” and he would work with them and he would use the condemnation laws and he would put together a project.  And he – he did better in that field than he did clearing out slums.  Incidentally, he cleared out some slums, but he didn’t use that urban renewal – he used it more to accommodate and to help people, you know, like the University of Tennessee, than he did to-
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-clear out blighted housing.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Oh.  Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
So he was powerful.  I mean you can imagine, I mean you could get some land where you wanted it, ‘cause it had to be – he couldn’t do it for individuals so much, but the public agencies, he could justify that.  He didn’t – well, and incidentally, he did it for some developers who wanted to, you know, to clear out a slum area so they could develop something close by on the property.  And of course, he never was accused of any kickbacks or anything like that, otherwise he would’ve been in a great position to ask for them.  There wasn’t any scandal in the public housing that I can recall.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Mm hmm.  Mm hmm.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
But he – and there was a lot of urban renewal going on.  Some of it was – most of it was pretty progressive, pretty healthy.

[0:23:00]
Elizabeth Gritter:
Mm hmm.  Mm hmm.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
And of course, one of our jobs as city commissioners and mayor was to hear some – we had a zoning board, but if the advocate or the opponents didn’t like the decision they could appeal it to the City Commission, so we heard a lot of zoning cases.  There were a lot of apartments being built out in the North Memphis/Frasier area; people out there just were totally against any kind of apartments anywhere.  So we heard a lot of that.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Mm hmm.  Did this also have a racial component to it, that people were concerned about integration in the neighborhood?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Well, they never said it out loud, but I’m sure – I mean they just put it in terms of neighborhood change, but I’m sure that was a concern.  And as it turned out, that’s the way it was, and that’s the way-

[0:24:00]

-it developed, in most of the tenants – most of the tenants out there are black now.  And Frasier was just a lilywhite community at that time.  I mean it had a lot of working class people out there.  
Elizabeth Gritter:
Sure.  Sure.  We’ve talked before about the Shelby County Democratic Club.  How influential were they in the political scene?  Did white politicians have to pay attention to them in order to get elected?  

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Well after the 1963 election they – yes, they didn’t have to, but they were fools if they didn’t.  ‘Cause they were – you know, they delivered.  In my case they delivered and in others.  We had legislative races going on all the – and other kind of political races in which they participated.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
And Willis was actually elected to the election – elected to the legislature at large.  It was before we had – it was before Baker v. Carr, the-
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-Supreme Court decision that established the one-man one-vote rule.  I’m not sure when that year was, but Baker was the county – one of the county trustees and he was sued by – no, I take that back; Baker was the plaintiff in the case, and he sued the secretary of state of Tennessee, the aim being to get redistricting in the Shelby County so that we could have – the urban districts could have representation equal to the county districts.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Oh, okay.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
At that time we had a county – had three elected people who ran the county, and then we had a county – what do they call it?  The called them squires.  The county legislative bodies were called squires.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
It was really an old, you know-
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-antiquated kind of, dating back to England in terms of terms.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
And they – anyhow, it was a landmark decision, in fact, for the whole country.  As a result of that decision they redistricted and did give the city more representation.  For example, before Baker v. Carr a county district may have had 10,000 people in it, and they elected one squire, whereas the city had 100,000 people in it and they elected one squire.  So it was not – it was out of balance.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
I think he sued Carr because the legislature is the body that has redistricting power, but I think the secretary of state has to initiate it.  I think that’s the way it is.
Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.  I’m just starting like learning-
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-about the different forms of government and squire and quarterly court, and it’s hard to keep track, there’s so many.
Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Yeah.  Yeah.  It really is.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
And oddly enough, the quarterly court attracted more – it was part-time now; it wasn’t like the City Commission, so it made it possible for people who had businesses or had other – were not professional politicians to run.  
Elizabeth Gritter:
Oh, okay.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
And we had a really blue ribbon kind of quarterly court at one time.  In fact, Jimmy Boyle, the _____, you know, I talked about in the beginning-

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
He left his city council – his city commission office in midterm and ran for the county commission, purely because he didn’t like controversy.

[Laughter]
Elizabeth Gritter:
Did he win?

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Oh yeah, he won.  Yeah, everybody loved Jimmy.

Elizabeth Gritter:
[Laughs]

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
And I didn’t really follow him too much over there, but he saw the handwriting on the wall, I think.  

Elizabeth Gritter:
Did – what sort of impact-
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-you said you have to get going soon?
Hunter Lane, Jr.:
 I have to be somewhere about 12:00.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Oh, okay.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
But are you – are we pretty well – we can get together again, if you’d like.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Oh, I think we’ve covered about everything.  But I might – I might take you up on that if you don’t-
Hunter Lane, Jr.:
Well after you review that, talk to other people-

Elizabeth Gritter:
Yeah.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
I’ve got – I’m going to have to leave, be out of town from – I think I’m going to leave Thursday morning.

Elizabeth Gritter:
Okay.

Hunter Lane, Jr.:
But in the meantime I’ve got to go get a – I’ve had some medical problems, and I’ve got to go-

[End of Audio]
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